

1 **Manuscript for *PeerJ***

2

3 **Development of identification methods for purebred parental species of *Dryophytes***
4 ***suweonensis* and *D. japonicus*, and their hybrids**

5

6 Nakyung Yoo¹, Ju-Duk Yoon^{1*}, Jeongwoo Yoo¹, Keun-Yong Kim², Jung Soo Heo², Keun-Sik
7 Kim^{1*}

8

9 ¹Research Center for Endangered Species, National Institute of Ecology, Yeongyang,
10 Republic of Korea

11 ²Department of Genetic Analysis, AquaGenTech Co., Ltd, Busan, Republic of Korea

12

13 Word count: 285 (abstract), 3239 (main text)

14

15 *Corresponding author:

16 Ju-Duk Yoon

17 23 Gowol-gil, Yeongyang-gun, Gyeongsangbuk-do, 36531, Republic of Korea

18 E-mail: grandblue@nie.re.kr

19

20 Keun-Sik Kim

21 23 Gowol-gil, Yeongyang-gun, Gyeongsangbuk-do, 36531, Republic of Korea

22 E-mail: E-mail: kskim@nie.re.kr

23

24

25 Abstract

26

27 Background

28 The Suwon treefrog, *Dryophytes suweonensis*, is an endangered wildlife species in Korea.

29 This species shares *its* habitat and often hybridizes with the common treefrog, *D. japonicus*.

30 Because hybridization can reduce biodiversity or cause extinction it is important to identify

31 purebred parental species and their hybrids prior to conservation plans such as *for* *D.*

32 *suweonensis*. In particular, *D. suweonensis* and *D. japonicus*, and their hybrids often have

33 abnormal ovaries and gonads, which are known to be a source of extinction threat.

34 Methods

35 We collected 57 individuals from six localities in which *D. suweonensis* has been known to

36 be distributed. We first performed a high-resolution melting curve (HRM) analysis of the

37 mitochondrial 12S ribosomal RNA gene to determine their maternal species. Thereafter, we

38 analyzed DNA sequences of five nuclear genes (*SLAH*, *TYR*, *POMC*, *RAG1*, and *C-MYC*) to

39 determine their parental species and hybrids.

40 Results

41 The HRM analysis showed that the melting temperature of *D. suweonensis* was in the range

42 of 79.0–79.3°C, and that of *D. japonicus* was 77.7–78.0°C, which clearly distinguished the

43 two treefrog species. DNA sequencing the five nuclear genes revealed a total of 37 single

44 nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) sites between them, and STRUCTURE analysis inferred

45 from the variant sites showed a delta K of two. We showed no double peaks in the purebred

46 parental sequences with Q values ≥ 0.995 , which clearly distinguished the two treefrog

47 species *from* their hybrids; eleven individuals *were* *D. suweonensis*, eight *were* *D. japonicus*,

48 and the other 38 *were* hybrids.

49 Conclusion

50 Therefore, it was possible to unambiguously identify the parental species and their hybrids

51 using the HMR analysis and DNA sequencing methods we applied in this study, which will

52 provide fundamental information for *D. suweonensis* conservation and restoration research.

53

Deleted: the

Deleted: endangered

Deleted: ,

Deleted: ,

Formatted: Font: Not Italic

Deleted: found to be

Deleted: and

Deleted: as

Deleted: as

Deleted: as their

Deleted: es

64 **Keywords**

65 Mitochondrial gene, nuclear genes, hybridization, endangered species, *Dryophytes*
66 *suweonensis*

67

68 1. Introduction

69 The Suwon treefrog, *Dryophytes suweonensis*, is an endangered wildlife species due to a
70 number of factors, including population fragmentation and continued habitat loss (Borzée
71 2018; Zhang et al. 2019). As a result, this species is designated as a Class I endangered
72 wildlife in Korea and listed as Endangered (EN) on the IUCN red list (IUCN, 2017). While
73 the common treefrog, *D. japonicus* uses a variety of habitats including forests and wetlands
74 as well as rice fields and is widely distributed in Asia, *D. suweonensis* is mainly found in
75 lowland rice field wetlands and known to be endemic to the Korean Peninsula (Do et al.
76 2017). *Dryophytes suweonensis* diverged from *D. japonicus* between 6.4 mya and 5.1 mya
77 and is characterized by very low genetic diversity compared to *D. japonicus* (Chun et al.
78 2012; Li et al. 2015).

79 Hybridization is the reproduction of two genetically different species (Barton &
80 Hewitt 1985). It is primarily caused by human activities such as the introduction of plant or
81 animal species, or habitat fragmentation and modification. The more rapidly these activities
82 interact, the more rapidly hybridization occurs (Rhymer & Simberloff 1996). It can cause
83 outbreeding depression, which in severe cases can lead to species extinction and reduced
84 biodiversity (Hoffmann et al. 2015; Huff et al. 2011). In addition, hybrids may be less healthy
85 than purebreds due to interspecific incompatibilities or various negative effects (Coyne & Orr
86 2004; Moulia 1999). Hybrid individuals that have inherited half genes from each parental
87 species are often morphologically indistinguishable from their parents (Leary et al. 1996). It
88 is currently estimated that hybridization occurs in about 10% of animals, although the actual
89 percentage is likely higher because most hybrids are difficult to identify in the wild (Maloy &
90 Hughes 2013). Interspecific hybridization is common in frogs (Berger 1968; Kierzkowski et
91 al. 2013; Peek et al. 2019). Identifying hybrids is important because populations can be
92 restored by removing hybrid individuals or by captive breeding if a population contains a
93 sufficient number of parental individuals without hybrids (Allendorf et al. 2001).

94 Identification of purebred parental species and their hybrids has been identified using
95 a variety of analytical methods, including mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA) sequencing,
96 microsatellite analysis, single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) analysis, Restriction-site
97 associated DNA capture (Rapture) sequencing, and so forth (Iwaoka et al. 2021; Simoes et al.
98 2012; Melville et al. 2017; Peek et al. 2019). A previous study reported that hybridization has
99 also occurred between *D. suweonensis* and *D. japonicus* in their wild populations by

Deleted: the

Deleted: and

102 analyzing both mitochondrial cytochrome c oxidase I (COI) and microsatellite markers
103 (Borzée et al. 2020). mtDNA is widely used in population genetics to measure genetic
104 variation of various wildlife animals to assess the population differentiation and habitat
105 conservation strategies (Avice et al. 1987; Moritz 1994). It is also useful in phylogenetic
106 studies because its mutation rates **are** ten times faster than those of nuclear DNA (nuDNA)
107 and **it** shows low recombination rates (Brown et al. 1979; Masuda & Yoshida 1994).
108 However, there are limitations in determining hybridization using mtDNA alone because it
109 only provides information on maternal inheritance (Sato & Sato 2013). In addition, use of
110 microsatellite markers from different species can cause errors due to the high probability of
111 null allele occurrences as the taxonomic distance between species increases (Wan et al. 2004).

Deleted: can be determined

112 In this study, we employed the high-resolution melting curve (HRM) technique to
113 identify the two treefrog species, *D. suweonensis* and *D. japonicus*, and their hybrids based
114 on the mitochondrial 12S ribosomal RNA (rRNA) gene, which allowed us to identify their
115 maternal parentage (Yoo et al. 2022). Additionally, we newly designed primer sets for **five**
116 nuclear genes, E3 ubiquitin protein ligase 1 (*SLAH*), tyrosinase (*TYR*), proopiomelanocortin
117 (*POMC*), V(D)J recombination-activating protein 1 (*RAG1*), **and** transcriptional regulator
118 Myc-like (*C-MYC*), and detected single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) sites by sequencing
119 their amplicons to determine their parentage and hybridization. This integrated approach
120 facilitated the unambiguous identification of the purebred parental species and their hybrids,
121 proving to be a valuable information prior to conservation and restoration research of *D.*
122 *suweonensis*.

Deleted: five

Deleted: ,

Deleted: es

123

124 2. Materials & Methods

125 Sampling and DNA extraction

126 This study was performed in accordance with the recommendations of the Animal Ethics
127 Review Committee of National Institute of Ecology (NIEIACUC-2020-012). We had
128 approval for captive and management wildlife from Han River Basin Environmental Office
129 (No. 2020-24), Geum River Basin Environmental Office (No. 2020-24), Jeonbuk Regional
130 Environmental Office (No. 2020-22), **and** Won-ju Regional Environmental Office (No. 2020-
131 24) by Wildlife Protection and Management Act
132 (https://elaw.klri.re.kr/kor_service/lawTwoView.do?hseq=49116).

Deleted: And

138 From April to June 2021, we sampled a total of 57 individuals of treefrogs from six localities
139 in South Korea, including Suwon and Pyeongtaek cities in Gyeonggi-do, Chungju city in
140 Chungcheongbuk-do, Asan city in Chungcheongnam-do, and Iksan and Wanju counties in
141 Jeollabuk-do, where *D. suweonensis* has been known to occur (Fig. 1). Surveys were
142 conducted during the day time when treefrogs were active, and they were captured randomly
143 by walking around the rice field banks in the vicinity of rice field wetlands, the main habitats
144 of this species (Kim et al. 2012). For sample collection for molecular experiments, oral
145 epithelial cells were non-invasively obtained according to Goldberg et al. (2003), i.e., by
146 gently swabbing a sterile cotton swab (Han ChangMedic, City, Korea) inside the frog's
147 mouth for about 30 seconds to 1 minute. Genomic DNA (gDNA) was extracted using the
148 DNeasy Blood & Tissue Kit (QIAGEN, Germany) according to the manufacturer's manual.
149 The amount of extracted gDNA was determined using a spectrophotometer (DeNovix DS-11
150 FX, DeNovix Inc., Wilmington, DE USA).

Deleted: treefrogs

151

152 **PCR primer design and DNA sequencing**

153 To design primer sets for PCR amplification of five nuclear genes, *SLAH*, *TYR*, *POMC*,
154 *RAG1*, and *C-MYC*, we downloaded the nucleotide sequence information of treefrog species
155 available in GenBank database in National Center for Biotechnology Information (NCBI)
156 (<https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/>).

157 The nucleotide sequence information of the five nuclear genes was subjected to
158 multiple sequence alignment using ClustalW (Thompson et al. 2003) in BioEdit 7.2
159 (www.mbio.ncsu.edu/BioEdit/bioedit.html), and five primer sets were newly designed based
160 on their information around the highly conserved regions (Table 1). To validate the primer
161 sets, the PCR reactions were carried out with 10 µl of Platinum Hot Start PCR Master Mix
162 2X (Invitrogen, Waltham, MA USA), 100 ng of gDNA, 1 µl of each primer at 5 µM, and the
163 final volume was adjusted to 20 µl using sterilized tertiary distilled water. The PCR reaction
164 consisted of an initial denaturation at 94°C for 2 minutes, followed by 38 cycles of
165 denaturation at 94°C for 30 seconds, annealing at 56°C for 30 seconds, and extension at 72°C
166 for 30 seconds. Finally, after an elongation step at 72°C for 1 minute, the success of the PCR
167 reaction was confirmed by electrophoresis on a 2% agarose gel stained with GelRed
168 (Invitrogen, USA).

170 The amplified PCR products were purified using the *AccuPrep*[®] PCR Purification Kit
171 (Bioneer, Daejeon, Korea) following the user manual. For DNA sequencing, the BigDye[™]
172 Terminator v3.1 Cycle Sequencing Kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA) and
173 the DNA Analyzer 3730xl (Thermo Fisher Scientific) were utilized. The forward and reverse
174 primers used in the PCR reaction for each nuclear gene were used for cycle sequencing.
175 Subsequently, the raw data of each nuclear gene were aligned using SEQUENCHER version
176 5.4.6 (Nishimura 2000), and unnecessary parts were appropriately trimmed to complete the
177 contigs.

178

179 **HRM analysis**

180 HRM analysis of the mitochondrial 12S rRNA gene was performed using the method
181 described by Yoo et al. (2022). Briefly, a total volume of 20 µl PCR reaction was prepared,
182 containing 10 µl of MeltDoctor[™] HRM Master Mix (Thermo Fisher Scientific), gDNA (10
183 ng/µl), and 2 µl of a primer set at 5 µM (HYL-12S-0250f: 5'-GTTACACCACGAGGCTCA-
184 3' HYL-12S-0343r: 5'-TGAGTTTCTTAAGAACAAGCG-3'), with 6 µl of sterile distilled
185 water. The PCR reaction was performed using the QuantStudio 5 Real-Time PCR System
186 (Thermo Fisher Scientific) with an initial denaturation step at 95°C for 10 minutes, followed
187 by 40 cycles of 95°C for 15 seconds and 60°C for 1 minute for ligation/extension. The
188 Meltcurve and dissociation steps for HRM analysis were conducted at 95°C for 10 seconds
189 for denaturation and 60°C for 1 minute for binding. Subsequently, high-resolution melting
190 was performed at 95°C for 15 seconds, followed by 60°C for 15 seconds for binding.

191 For an individual that did not show reliable melting temperature, its gDNA was
192 PCR amplified using the forward primer 5'-AAAGCRTAGCACTGAAAATG-3' (ANU-MT-
193 00018f) and the reverse primer 5'-TCGGTGTAAGCGAGATGCTTT-3' (ANU-MT-01017r)
194 according to Yoo et al. (2022). The amplified PCR products were then sequenced using the
195 same method as mentioned above, and identification was performed using BLASTn in NCBI.

196

197 **STRUCTURE analysis**

198 To identify patterns in the degree of hybridization between *D. suweonensis* and *D. japonicus*,
199 we conducted a STRUCTURE analysis using the Bayesian clustering algorithm. For this

analysis, we created a nucleotide sequence matrix that included both SNP sites representing interspecific differences between the two treefrog species and SNPs identifying individual variations. The SNP sites were then analyzed using STRUCTURE v. 2.3.4. (Pritchard et al. 2000) with 100,000 burn-in and 500,000 simulations. Additionally, posterior probabilities (LnP(D)) values were calculated using the delta K (ΔK) method through STRUCTURE HARVESTER (Evanno et al. 2005) to determine the optimal K value (Earl & VonHoldt 2012).

3. Results

HRM analysis

The HRM analysis of the mitochondrial 12S rRNA gene revealed distinct melting temperatures of 79.0-79.3°C for *D. suweonensis* and 77.7-78.0°C for *D. japonicus*, enabling reliable species identification (Fig. 3). However, one individual (SJ02_5) showed a melting temperature of 78.6°C, which made it challenging to identify the species accurately. As a result, the species identification success rate using HRM analysis was approximately 97.88%. Its DNA sequencing identified SJ02_5 as *D. japonicus* with 99.78% identity with the nucleotide information in GenBank database (GenBank accession number: OK156173).

DNA sequencing

The DNA sequencing of the five nuclear genes sampled from 57 individuals of *D. suweonensis* and *D. japonicus* revealed specific sequence lengths for each gene; 267 bp in *SLAH*, 361 bp in *TYR*, 372 bp in *POMC*, 561 bp in *RAG1*, and 301 bp in *C-MYC*. When comparing the variable sites and parsimony informative sites (PIs) of each gene in the two treefrog species and their hybrids, no variable sites and PIs were identified in *TYR* and *SLAH* for *D. suweonensis*, and no PIs were identified in *C-MYC* and *SLAH* for *D. japonicus*. The nuclear genes with the most variable sites overall were *RAG1*, while those with the most PIs were *TYR* and *RAG1* (Table 2).

The DNA sequencing of the five nuclear genes revealed that their sequence chromatograms displayed double peaks in the SNP sites between the two treefrog species in numerous individuals (Fig. 2). For instance, the hybrid individuals showed a double peak of

230 (G/A) at 175 bp in *SLAH*, a double peak of (T/C) at 202 bp in *TYR*, double peaks of (G/C) and
231 (G/A) at 91 bp and 93 bp positions in *POMC*, respectively, and a double peak of (A/T) in 97
232 bp in *RAG1*.

233

234 **STRUCTURE analysis**

235 STRUCTURE analysis was performed to calculate the optimal number of groups based on
236 the Q values calculated repeatedly using the STRUCTURE HARVESTER, and the highest
237 delta K value was found at K = 2 (Fig. 3a). Using the optimal number of groups, K = 2, the
238 graph with the lowest maximum likelihood value (K = 2, Est. Ln prob. of data = 1232.8) was
239 selected (Fig. 3b).

240 In the STRUCTURE analysis, if the Q value, which means the estimated probability
241 that each individual belongs to a specific species or population, is 0.800 or higher based on
242 one species, 16 hybrids were determined with a rate of 28.07%. If the Q value is 0.900 or
243 higher based on one species, 23 hybrids were determined with a rate of 40.35%. On the other
244 hand, when the Q value, which is the criterion that no double peaks appeared at the
245 heterozygous mutation positions, which is a sequence that shows SNPs between species
246 among the five nuclear gene sequences, was determined to be 0.995 or higher, eleven
247 individuals were determined to be purebred *D. suweonensis*, eight individuals purebred *D.*
248 *japonicus*, and 38 individuals hybrids (Fig. 3b). Individuals with a Q value of 0.750 or more
249 for one species and a Q value of less than 0.250 for the other species in the STRUCTURE
250 analysis can be assumed to be backcrosses (Weetman et al. 2014). Therefore, applying the
251 above criteria, a total of 32 hybrid individuals were backcrosses, 13 individuals were
252 assumed to be backcrosses with the maternal parentage of *D. japonicus*, and 19 of *D.*
253 *suweonensis*, representing 56.14% of the total individuals.

254 For most individuals, HRM analysis of mitochondrial 12S rRNA gene and the ratio
255 of Q values from STRUCTURE analysis of the five nuclear genes were consistent for their
256 maternal parentage determination. For example, most of the individuals determined as
257 maternal inheritance with *D. japonicus* had a Q value of 0.721 or higher for the
258 corresponding species, and most of the individuals with *D. suweonensis* had a Q value of
259 0.716 or higher for the corresponding species. On the other hand, two individuals, SJ02_5
260 and JN02 were determined to be *D. japonicus* as maternal inheritance, but the STRUCTURE

- Deleted: a
- Deleted: species of
- Deleted: a
- Deleted: one of
- Deleted: of their
- Deleted: among
- Deleted: Among

analysis showed that their Q values of 0.406 and 0.346, respectively, were attributed to *D. japonicus*, indicating a cyto-nuclear discordance.

4. Discussion

In general, nuDNA is stably transmitted to offspring and characterized by biparental inheritance. Methods that analyze both mtDNA and nuDNA for species and hybrid identification have been shown to significantly increase accuracy in determining their parental lineage (McKay & Zink 2010; Sun & Pang 2013; Toews & Brelsford 2012; Whittaker et al. 1994; Funk & Omland 2003). Studies identifying hybrids through mtDNA-nuDNA comparative analysis have been used to identify introgressive hybrids to elucidate the process of introgressive hybridization, and to understand the level of genetic diversity (Zhang et al. 2018). These methods have been used in amphibians research, including the identification of potential polyploid hybrids and backcrosses (Correa et al. 2012; Stöck et al. 2010; Velo-Antón et al. 2021). In this study, we used the mitochondrial 12S rRNA gene of *D. suweonensis* and *D. japonicus*, and their hybrids to identify the maternal parentage by HRN analysis, and also applied the DNA sequencing of the five nuclear genes that contains SNP sites, thereby greatly improving the identification accuracy of the purebred parental species and hybrids.

Sequence chromatograms from the five nuclear genes have the advantage of being able to reconstruct parental sequences for DNA segments from heterozygotes and interspecies hybrids for multiple linked points through the identification of SNP sites and double peak patterns (Sousa-Santos et al. 2005). While interspecific F₁ hybrid individuals are commonly characterized by double peaks at all SNPs where the heterozygous mutation between the two species occurs (Depaquit et al. 2019; Sousa-Santos et al. 2005), the individuals analyzed in this study showed an irregular pattern; the double peak was not consistently observed only in the interspecific SNP sequences of the F₁ hybrid, making it challenging to identify the purebred parental species and their hybrids based on the presence of a simple double peak.

Vähä & Primmer (2006) employed two Bayesian-based programs, STRUCTURE and NEWHYBRIDS, to effectively detect hybrids. They determined the optimal genetic differentiation threshold based on three key aspects: efficiency, accuracy, and overall performance, with a Q value of 0.900 or higher. In a previous study, hybrids of *D.*

299 *suweonensis* were classified as such when the assignment probability was below 90.0%
300 (Borzée et al. 2020). In contrast, our study proposed a Q value threshold of 0.995 for the
301 absence of double peaks at heterozygous mutation sites between *D. suweonensis* and *D.*
302 *japonicus* across the five nuclear genes. While reducing the threshold may result in a larger
303 number of individuals being classified as the purebred parental species, we argue that a
304 stricter threshold aligns more closely with the criteria essential for determining the parental
305 species, particularly in the context of conserving endangered wildlife species (De Hert et al.
306 2012; Yan et al. 2017).

307 Admixture analysis can be used to identify F₁ and F₂ hybrids, and first-generation
308 backcrosses, which are characterized by a decrease in the admixture rate (Q) of the species by
309 approximately one-half with each new backcross generation (Vähä& Primmer 2006;
310 Weetman et al. 2014). In this study, we were able to accurately identify hybrids between *D.*
311 *suweonensis* and *D. japonicus*, and the proportion of individuals that could be presumed to be
312 reverse hybrids was very high at 56.14% of the total individuals. In particular, the fact that
313 there were no F₁ hybrids identified between *D. suweonensis* and *D. japonicus* suggests that
314 hybridization between the two treefrog species has occurred over a long period of time and
315 hybrids can interbreed with one of their parental species that shares the same habitats.
316 Therefore, as mentioned above, it emphasizes the need to apply strict threshold values when
317 separating the two treefrog species and their hybrids by Q values in STRUCTURE analysis
318 using the method developed in this study.

319 Hybridization, recognized as a significant driver of extinction, can imperil
320 endangered wildlife species through processes like hybridization suppression or genetic
321 assimilation. The impact of hybridization on species can be detrimental as it facilitates the
322 gene flows between different species, potentially leading to reduced biodiversity through
323 direct and indirect pathways or even culminating in species extinction (Levin 2002;
324 Rieseberg & Carney 1998). Our findings indicate that substantial occurrences of
325 hybridization or backcrosses between *D. suweonensis* and *D. japonicus* could markedly
326 diminish their population. Of greater concern, however, is the fact that 81.58% of these
327 hybrids are backcrosses. Backcrosses tend to exhibit a higher imbalance in
328 mitochondrial/nuclear ratios, which detrimentally influences their survival (Vilaça et al.
329 2023). In this study, we identified two *D. japonicus* individuals displaying cyto-nuclear
330 discordance. Similar instances of genetic mismatches between mtDNA and nuDNA have

331 been also observed in other amphibian species (Ambu et al. 2023; Cairns et al. 2021; Eto et
332 al. 2013). The occurrence of cyto-nuclear discordance may suggest factors such as
333 hybridization through introgression (Lee-Yaw et al. 2019), sex-biased dispersal (Seixas et al.
334 2018), or shifts in hybrid zones (Wielstra 2019). Notably, amphibians have demonstrated
335 differential growth in individuals based on their mitochondrial type (mitotype), with lower
336 growth rates occurring in instances of cyto-nuclear discordance (Lee-Yaw et al. 2014).
337 Hence, it is plausible that individuals displaying cyto-nuclear discordance among hybrids
338 between the two treefrog species also exhibit growth disparities compared to the purebred
339 individuals from their respective mitotypes.

Deleted: parental species

341 **Conclusions**

342 Previous studies have underscored that hybridization between *D. suweonensis* and *D.*
343 *japonicus* constitute a primary driver behind the extinction threat faced by the former species
344 (Borzée et al. 2018; Borzée et al. 2020). Given the substantial identification of hybrid
345 individuals in this study, it becomes imperative to explore strategies for curbing hybridization
346 to safeguard this endangered wildlife species. Hence, the crucial course of action involves
347 elucidating the mechanisms underlying its hybridization and promoting population
348 stabilization (Bohling 2016). The strategy of the DNA sequencing of five nuclear genes
349 applied through this study is expected to offer several benefits. It can counteract potential
350 data bias attributed to null alleles when solely employing microsatellite markers for
351 hybridization analysis. Additionally, the nuclear gene markers can enable a stringent
352 determination of the purebred parental species with a higher resolution, thus significantly
353 aiding in unraveling the mechanisms of hybridization. This research lays the groundwork for
354 systematic investigations, enhancing the precise identification of the purebred parental
355 species and their hybrids of *D. suweonensis* and *D. japonicus*. Such advancements serve as a
356 fundamental framework for guiding efforts toward the restoration of reproductive processes,
357 a critical endeavor during times necessitating the conservation and restoration of the
358 endangered *D. suweonensis*.

Deleted: that

Deleted: s

Deleted: an

Deleted: , *D. suweonensis*

360 **Author Contributions**

361 **Nakyung Yoo** performed the experiments, analyzed the data, prepared figures and/or tables,

367 authored or reviewed drafts of the article, and approved the final draft.

368 **Ju-Duk Yoon** conceived and designed the experiments, authored or reviewed drafts of the
369 article, and approved the final draft.

370 **Keun-Yong Kim** performed the experiments, authored or reviewed drafts of the article, and
371 approved the final draft.

372 **Jeongwoo Yoo** analyzed the data, prepared figures and/or tables, and approved the final draft.

373 **Jung Soo Heo** analyzed the data, authored or reviewed drafts of the article, and approved the
374 final draft.

375 **Keun-Sik Kim** conceived and designed the experiments, performed the experiments,
376 analyzed the data, authored or reviewed drafts of the article, and approved the final draft.

378 **Data Availability**

379 The following information was supplied regarding data availability: Q value from
380 STRUCTURE analysis, results of mitochondrial DNA analysis using melting temperature
381 from HRM analysis, species identification through nuDNA-mtDNA ~~comaprison of~~ *D.*
382 *suweonensis* and *D. japonicus*, and their hybrids are available in the Supplemental Files. All
383 nuDNA data are available in the NCBI: OR474555 – OR474832

Deleted: comaprison

Deleted: about

Deleted: in the

385 **Animal Ethics**

386 The following information was supplied relating to ethical approvals (i.e., approving body
387 and any reference numbers): Han River Basin Environmental Office (No. 2020-24), Geum
388 River Basin Environmental Office (No. 2020-24), Jeonbuk Regional Environmental Office
389 (No. 2020-22), Won-ju Regional Environmental Office (No. 2020-24) and the IACUC at
390 National Institute of Ecology approved this research (NIEIACUC-2020-012).

391

392 **Funding**

396 This work was supported by a grant from the National Institute of Ecology (NIE), funded by
397 the Ministry of Environment (MOE) of the Republic of Korea (NIE-B-2023-45).

398

399 **Conflict of interest**

400 The authors declare no conflicts of interest.

401

402 **References**

- 403 Allendorf FW, Leary RF, Spruell P, and Wenburg JK. 2001. The problems with hybrids:
404 setting conservation guidelines. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* 16:613-622.
- 405 Ambu J, Martínez-Solano Í, Suchan T, Hernandez A, Wielstra B, Crochet P-A, and Dufresnes
406 C. 2023. Genomic phylogeography illuminates deep cyto-nuclear discordances in
407 midwife toads (*Alytes*). *Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution* 183:107783.
- 408 Avise JC, Arnold J, Ball RM, Bermingham E, Lamb T, Neigel JE, Reeb CA, and Saunders
409 NC. 1987. Intraspecific phylogeography: the mitochondrial DNA bridge between
410 population genetics and systematics. *Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics* 18:489-
411 522.
- 412 Barton NH, and Hewitt GM. 1985. Analysis of hybrid zones. *Annual Review of Ecology and*
413 *Systematics* 16:113-148.
- 414 Berger L. 1968. Morphology of the F1 generation of various crosses within *Rana esculenta*-
415 complex: Zakład Zoologii Systematycznej Polskiej Akademii Nauk.
- 416 Bohling JH. 2016. Strategies to address the conservation threats posed by hybridization and
417 genetic introgression. *Biological Conservation* 203:321-327.
- 418 Borzée A. 2018. Why are anurans threatened? The case of *Dryophytes suweonensis*. Seoul
419 National University (Republic of Korea).
- 420 Borzée A, Andersen D, and Jang Y. 2018. Population trend inferred from aural surveys for
421 calling anurans in Korea. *PeerJ* 6:e5568.
- 422 Borzée A, Fong JJ, Nguyen HQ, and Jang Y. 2020. Large-scale hybridisation as an extinction
423 threat to the Suweon treefrog (Hylidae: *Dryophytes suweonensis*). *Animals* 10:764.

424 Brown WM, George Jr M, and Wilson AC. 1979. Rapid evolution of animal mitochondrial
425 DNA. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 76:1967-1971.

426 Cairns N, Cicchino A, Stewart K, Austin J, and Loughheed S. 2021. Cytonuclear discordance,
427 reticulation and cryptic diversity in one of North America's most common frogs.
428 *Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution* 156:107042.

429 Chun S, Chung E, Voloshina I, Chong JR, Lee H, and Min M-S. 2012. Genetic diversity of
430 Korean tree frog (*Hyla suweonensis* and *Hyla japonica*): assessed by mitochondrial
431 cytochrome *b* gene and cytochrome oxidase subunit I gene. *Korean Journal of*
432 *Herpetology* 4:31-41.

433 Correa CL, Méndez MA, Veloso A, and Sallaberry M. 2012. Genetic and Reproductive
434 evidence of natural hybridization between the sister species *Rhinella atacamensis* and
435 *Rhinella arunco* (Anura, Bufonidae). *Journal of Herpetology* 46: 568-577.

436 Coyne J, and Orr H. 2004. Speciation. Sunderland, MA Sinauer Associates. Inc.

437 De Hert K, Jacquemyn H, Van Glabeke S, Roldan-Ruiz I, Vandepitte K, Leus L, and Honnay
438 O. 2012. Reproductive isolation and hybridization in sympatric populations of three
439 *Dactylorhiza* species (Orchidaceae) with different ploidy levels. *Annals of Botany*
440 109:709-720.

441 Depaquit J, Akhoundi M, Haouchine D, Mantelet S, and Izri A. 2019. No limit in
442 interspecific hybridization in schistosomes: observation from a case report. *Parasite* 26.

443 Do MS, Lee J-W, Jang H-J, Kim D-I, Park J, and Yoo J-C. 2017. Spatial distribution patterns
444 and prediction of hotspot area for endangered herpetofauna species in Korea. *Korean*
445 *Journal of Environmental and Ecology* 31:381-396.

446 Earl DA, and VonHoldt BM. 2012. STRUCTURE HARVESTER: a website and program for
447 visualizing STRUCTURE output and implementing the Evanno method. *Conservation*
448 *Genetics Resources* 4:359-361.

449 Eto K, Matsui M, and Sugahara T. 2013. Discordance between mitochondrial DNA
450 genealogy and nuclear DNA genetic structure in the two morphotypes of *Rana tagoi*
451 *tagoi* (Amphibia: Anura: Ranidae) in the Kinki Region, Japan. *Zoological Science*
452 30:553-558.

453 Evanno G, Regnaut S, and Goudet J. 2005. Detecting the number of clusters of individuals
 454 using the software STRUCTURE: a simulation study. *Molecular Ecology* 14:2611-2620.

455 Funk DJ, and Omland KE. 2003. Species-level paraphyly and polyphyly: frequency, causes,
 456 and consequences, with insights from animal mitochondrial DNA. *Annual Review of*
 457 *Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics* 34:397-423.

458 Goldberg CS, Kaplan ME, and Schwalbe CR. 2003. From the frog's mouth: buccal swabs for
 459 collection of DNA from amphibians. *Herpetological Review* 34:220.

460 Hoffmann A, Plötner J, Pruvost NB, Christiansen DG, Röthlisberger S, Choleva L, Mikulíček
 461 P, Cogălniceanu D, Sas-Kovács I, and Shabanov D. 2015. Genetic diversity and
 462 distribution patterns of diploid and polyploid hybrid water frog populations (*Pelophylax*
 463 *esculentus* complex) across Europe. *Molecular Ecology* 24:4371-4391.

464 Huff DD, Miller LM, Chizinski CJ, and Vondracek B. 2011. Mixed-source reintroductions
 465 lead to outbreeding depression in second-generation descendants of a native North
 466 American fish. *Molecular Ecology* 20:4246-4258.

467 IUCN. 2017. *Dryophytes suweonensis* (amended version of 2014 assessment). The IUCN
 468 Red List of Threatened Species 2017: e.T55670A112715252.
 469 <https://dx.doi.org/10.2305/IUCN.UK.2017-1.RLTS.T55670A112715252.en>. Accessed
 470 on 24 August 2023.

471 Iwaoka Y, Watanabe T, Satoh SS, Nambu H, and Yamazaki Y. 2021. Hybridization of two
 472 species of Japanese toads, *Bufo torrenticola* and *Bufo japonicus formosus*, in the central
 473 part of Japan. *Zoological Science* 38:506-512.

474 Kierzkowski P, Kosiba P, Rybacki M, Socha M, and Ogińska M. 2013. Genome dosage
 475 effect and colouration features in hybridogenetic water frogs of the *Pelophylax*
 476 *esculentus* complex. *Amphibia-Reptilia* 34:493-504.

477 Kim I, Ham C, Jang S, Kim E, and Kim J. 2012. Determination of breeding season, and daily
 478 pattern of calling behavior of the endangered Suweon-tree frog (*Hyla suweonensis*).
 479 *Korean Journal of Herpetology* 4:23-29.

480 Leary RE, Gould WR, and Sage GK. 1996. Success of basibranchial teeth in indicating pure
 481 populations of rainbow trout and failure to indicate pure populations of westslope

482 cutthroat trout. *North American Journal of Fisheries Management* 16:210-213.

483 Lee-Yaw JA, Grassa CJ, Joly S, Andrew RL, and Rieseberg LH. 2019. An evaluation of
 484 alternative explanations for widespread cytonuclear discordance in annual sunflowers
 485 (*Helianthus*). *New Phytologist* 221:515-526.

486 Lee-Yaw JA, Jacobs CG, and Irwin DE. 2014. Individual performance in relation to
 487 cytonuclear discordance in a northern contact zone between long-toed salamander
 488 (*Ambystoma macrodactylum*) lineages. *Molecular Ecology* 23:4590-4602.

489 Levin DA. 2002. Hybridization and extinction: in protecting rare species, conservationists
 490 should consider the dangers of interbreeding, which compound the more well-known
 491 threats to wildlife. *American Scientist* 90:254-261.

492 Li JT, Wang JS, Nian HH, Litvinchuk SN, Wang J, Li Y, Rao DQ, and Klaus S. 2015.
 493 Amphibians crossing the Bering Land Bridge: evidence from holarctic treefrogs (*Hyla*,
 494 Hylidae, Anura). *Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution* 87:80-90.

495 Maloy S, and Hughes K. 2013. Brenner's encyclopedia of genetics: Academic Press.

496 Masuda R, and Yoshida MC. 1994. Nucleotide sequence variation of cytochrome *b* genes in
 497 three species of weasels *Mustela itatsi*, *Mustela sibirica*, and *Mustela nivalis*, detected
 498 by improved PCR product-direct sequencing technique. *Journal of the Mammalogical*
 499 *Society of Japan* 19:33-43.

500 McKay BD, and Zink RM. 2010. The causes of mitochondrial DNA gene tree paraphyly in
 501 birds. *Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution* 54:647-650.

502 Melville J, Haines ML, Boysen K, Hodkinson L, Kilian A, Smith Date KL, Potvin DA, and
 503 Parris KM. 2017. Identifying hybridization and admixture using SNPs: application of
 504 the DArTseq platform in phylogeographic research on vertebrates. *Royal Society Open*
 505 *Science* 4:161061.

506 Moritz C. 1994. Applications of mitochondrial DNA analysis in conservation: a critical
 507 review. *Molecular Ecology* 3:401-411.

508 Moulia C. 1999. Parasitism of plant and animal hybrids: are facts and fates the same?
 509 *Ecology* 80:392-406.

510 Nishimura D. 2000. Sequencher 3.1. 1. *Biotech Software & Internet Report* 1:24-30.

511 Peek RA, Bedwell M, O'Rourke SM, Goldberg C, Wengert GM, and Miller MR. 2019.
512 Hybridization between two parapatric ranid frog species in the northern Sierra Nevada,
513 California, USA. *Molecular Ecology* 28:4636-4647.

514 Pritchard JK, Stephens M, and Donnelly P. 2000. Inference of population structure using
515 multilocus genotype data. *Genetics* 155:945-959.

516 Rhymer JM, and Simberloff D. 1996. Extinction by hybridization and introgression. *Annual*
517 *Review of Ecology and Systematics* 27:83-109.

518 Rieseberg LH, and Carney SE. 1998. Plant hybridization. *The New Phytologist* 140:599-624.

519 Sato M, and Sato K. 2013. Maternal inheritance of mitochondrial DNA by diverse
520 mechanisms to eliminate paternal mitochondrial DNA. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta*
521 *(BBA)-Molecular Cell Research* 1833:1979-1984.

522 Seixas FA, Boursot P, and Melo-Ferreira J. 2018. The genomic impact of historical
523 hybridization with massive mitochondrial DNA introgression. *Genome Biology* 19:1-20.

524 Simoes PI, Lima AP, and Farias IP. 2012. Restricted natural hybridization between two
525 species of litter frogs on a threatened landscape in southwestern Brazilian Amazonia.
526 *Conservation Genetics* 13:1145-1159.

527 Sousa-Santos C, Robalo JI, Collares-Pereira M-J, and Almada VC. 2005. Heterozygous
528 indels as useful tools in the reconstruction of DNA sequences and in the assessment of
529 ploidy level and genomic constitution of hybrid organisms. *DNA Sequence* 16:462-467.

530 Stöck M, Ustinova J, Lamatsch DK, Scharlt M, Perrin N, and Moritz C. 2010. A vertebrate
531 reproductive system involving three ploidy levels: hybrid origin of triploids in a contact
532 zone of diploid and tetraploid Palearctic green toads (*Bufo viridis* subgroup). *Evolution*
533 64:944-959.

534 Sun Z-Y, and Pang X-H. 2013. Discussion on the botanical origin of *Isatidis radix* and
535 *Isatidis folium* based on DNA barcoding. *Acta Pharmaceutica Sinica* 48:1850-1855.

536 Thompson JD, Gibson TJ, and Higgins DG. 2003. Multiple sequence alignment using
537 ClustalW and ClustalX. *Current Protocols in Bioinformatics*:2.3. 1-2.3. 22.

538 Toews DP, and Brelsford A. 2012. The biogeography of mitochondrial and nuclear
539 discordance in animals. *Molecular Ecology* 21:3907-3930.

540 VÄHÄ JP, and Primmer CR. 2006. Efficiency of model-based Bayesian methods for
 541 detecting hybrid individuals under different hybridization scenarios and with different
 542 numbers of loci. *Molecular Ecology* 15:63-72.

543 Velo-Antón G, Lourenço A, Galán P, Nicieza A and Tarroso P. 2021. Landscape resistance
 544 constrains hybridization across contact zones in a reproductively and morphologically
 545 polymorphic salamander. *Scientific Reports* 11: 9259.

546 Vilaça ST, Maroso F, Lara P, de Thoisy B, Chevallier D, Arantes LS, Santos FR, Bertorelle G,
 547 and Mazzoni CJ. 2023. Evidence of backcross inviability and mitochondrial DNA
 548 paternal leakage in sea turtle hybrids. *Molecular Ecology* 32:628-643.

549 Wan QH, Wu H, Fujihara T, and Fang SG. 2004. Which genetic marker for which
 550 conservation genetics issue? *Electrophoresis* 25:2165-2176.

551 Weetman D, Steen K, Rippon EJ, Mawejje HD, Donnelly MJ, and Wilding CS. 2014.
 552 Contemporary gene flow between wild *An. gambiae ss* and *An. arabiensis*. *Parasites &*
 553 *Vectors* 7:1-9.

554 Whittaker SL, Assinder SJ, and Shaw DS. 1994. Inheritance of mitochondrial DNA in
 555 *Phytophthora infestans*. *Mycological Research* 98:569-575.

556 Wielstra B. 2019. Historical hybrid zone movement: more pervasive than appreciated.
 557 *Journal of Biogeography* 46:1300-1305.

558 Yan L-J, Burgess KS, Milne R, Fu C-N, Li D-Z, and Gao L-M. 2017. Asymmetrical natural
 559 hybridization varies among hybrid swarms between two diploid *Rhododendron* species.
 560 *Annals of Botany* 120:51-61.

561 Yoo N, Kim K-Y, Heo JS, Yoon J-D, and Kim K-S. 2022. Novel non-invasive molecular
 562 identification method for two tree frogs, *Dryophytes suweonensis* and *Dryophytes*
 563 *japonicus*, based on high resolution melting (HRM) analysis. *Korean Journal of*
 564 *Environmental Biology* 40:199-205.

565 Zhang J-Y, Luu BE, Yu D-N, Zhang L-P, Al-Attar R, and Storey KB. 2019. The complete
 566 mitochondrial genome of *Dryophytes versicolor*: Phylogenetic relationship among
 567 Hylidae and mitochondrial protein-coding gene expression in response to freezing and
 568 anoxia. *International Journal of Biological Macromolecules* 132:461-469.

569 Zhang QP, Hu WF, Zhou TT, Kong SS, Liu ZF, and Zheng RQ. 2018. Interspecies
570 introgressive hybridization in spiny frogs *Quasipaa* (Family Dicroglossidae) revealed by
571 analyses on multiple mitochondrial and nuclear genes. *Ecology and Evolution* 8:1260-
572 1270.
573

574 **Tables and Figures legends**

575

576 **Table 1.** Primer sets newly designed in this study to identify purebred *Dryophytes*
577 *suweonensis*, *D. japonicus*, and their hybrids.

578

579 **Table 2.** Sequence nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) sites and parsimony informative sites
580 (PI) in five nuclear genes of purebred *Dryophytes suweonensis*, *D. japonicus*, and their
581 hybrids.

582

583 **Figure 1.** Sampling localities of individuals of *Dryophytes suweonensis*, *D. japonicus*, and
584 their hybrids in South Korea.

585

586 **Figure 2.** Examples of double peaks at sequence nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) sites in
587 sequencing chromatograms of five nuclear genes of *Dryophytes suweonensis*, *D. japonicus*,
588 and their hybrids. (a-c) *SIAH*, (d-f) *TYR*, (g-i) *POMC*, (j-l), *RAG1* and (m-o), and *C-myc* of *D.*
589 *suweonensis* and *D. japonica*, and their hybrids. (a, d, g, j, m) homozygous peaks in *D.*
590 *japonica*, (b, e, h, k, n) heterozygous peaks in hybrids between *D. japonicus* and *D.*
591 *suweonensis*, and (c, f, i, l, o) homozygous peaks in *D. suweonensis*.

592

593 **Figure 3.** Identification results of purebred *Dryophytes suweonensis*, *D. japonicus*, and their
594 hybrids. (a) The best suitable K of *D. suweonensis* and *D. japonicus* obtained by the delta K
595 (ΔK) method in STRUCTURE Harvester. The value of ΔK was highest at 2 (ΔK : 1681.844).
596 (b) Results of mitochondrial 12S rRNA using HRM analysis (mtDNA) and probabilistic
597 assignment to genetic clusters (K = 2) using the STRUCTURE software. A vertical column
598 represents each individual, and the length of each column indicates the proportional
599 membership (Q value) in each cluster (*D. suweonensis* is green, *D. japonicus* is blue, and red
600 box represents cyto-nuclear discordant individuals).

Deleted: parental species of

Deleted: and

Deleted: parental species of

Deleted: and

Deleted: and

Deleted: and

Deleted: parental species of

Deleted: and

Deleted: discordance